THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000778
Case No. 2013-CP-23-01762

RECEIVED
DEC 29 2015
SC Court of Appeals

Carol Simpson,

Appellant,

v.

Frank A. Landgraff, Carol Sutton, Sutton & Associates
Investigations, Inc., Defendants,

Of Whom Frank A. Landgraff is the

Respondent.

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

William G. Mayer
118 West Main Street
Laurens, SC 29360
864-984-9202 Telephone
864-715-0496 Facsimile
Attorney for the Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BEFORE APPELLANT HAD A FULL AND FAIR OPPORTUNITY TO COMPLETE DISCOVERY?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON A FINDING THAT THERE IS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AS TO APPELLANT'S CLAIMS AGAINST RESPONDENT?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON A FINDING THAT APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE WRONGFUL CONDUCT BAR AND THE IN PARI DELICTO DOCTRINE?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED ON TWO HYPOTHETICALS?
5. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN IT ACKNOWLEDGED THAT EVIDENCE MAY EXIST THAT NEGATES THE WRONGFUL CONDUCT BAR?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

To coin a term, this is a case of "video wiretapping." Technology has outpaced jurisprudence when it comes to video recording. Thus, Appellant had to resort to claims for wrongful intrusion into private affairs, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and civil conspiracy to seek redress for the damages.

On March 18, 2013, Appellant sent the following documents to the trial court: (1) a Complaint for Wrongful Intrusion into Private Affairs, Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress, and Civil Conspiracy along with a Summons, (2) a Motion to Proceed under Pseudonym along with a Proposed Order, (3) an *Ex Parte* Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order and Rule to Show Cause Why a Permanent Injunction Should Not Issue ("TRO") along with an Affidavit and Proposed Order. The *ex parte*

motion simply sought the enjoining of the disclosure of Appellant's identity until a timely hearing could be held.

On March 20, 2013, the trial court instructed Appellant to "file the Summons and Complaint and Motion for Temporary Injunction and serve the Respondents in this matter. Once proof of service has been received by the Court, we will schedule a hearing, allowing for 10 day's notice to the Respondents." On March 27, 2013, Appellant filed the Summons, Complaint, and Motion to Proceed under Pseudonym.

On March 29, 2013, Appellant filed the Motion for an *Ex Parte* TRO rather than just a Motion for Temporary Injunction. On April 17, 2013, the trial court denied Appellant's Motion by returning it to her and again instructing her to file the Summons, Complaint, and Motion for Temporary Injunction. On April 18, 2013, Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration which the trial court denied.

Appellant filed a Complaint and Motion to Proceed Anonymously on March 27, 2013. The Court granted Appellant's Motion to Proceed Anonymously without a hearing on May 17, 2013. On September 26, 2013, Respondent filed a motion asking the trial court to vacate its Order. On November 11, 2013, Appellant filed her Motion in Opposition to Set Aside Order.

On January 8, 2014, the Court vacated its Order and denied Appellant's Motion to Proceed Anonymously without a hearing. Appellant filed a motion asking the Court to vacate its January 8th Order or hold it in abeyance until a hearing could be held on her original Motion to Proceed Anonymously. The trial court denied Appellant's motion via a Form 4 order without a hearing on March 31, 2014.

Appellant filed the Amended Complaint which only changed the name of the Appellant from Jane Doe on June 20, 2014. Appellant also filed a Memorandum in Support of her Motion to Strike 19 unsupported affirmative defenses and for Partial Summary Judgment on June 20, 2014. Respondent filed a Rule 56(f) affidavit on June 23, 2014. The Court denied Appellant's Motion to Strike and for Partial Judgment without a hearing by a Form 4 Order filed on July 1, 2014.

Respondent filed his Answer on July 10, 2014. Respondent filed a Motion to Compel on August 28, 2014. Appellant re-filed her Motion to Strike 18 unsupported affirmative defenses on October 13, 2014. On October 30, 2014, she filed an Answer to Respondent's Motion to Compel and a Memorandum in Support of her Motion to Strike.

On November 7, 2014, Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. Appellant filed her Verified Memorandum in Opposition to Respondent's Motion on November 14, 2014. Respondent filed a Supplemental Memorandum Supporting Summary Judgment on November 24, 2014.

The other Defendants Carol Sutton and Carol Sutton & Associates - Investigations, Inc. ("Sutton") filed their Amended Complaint on November 26, 2014.

On December 5, 2014, the trial court granted Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment with instructions for Respondent's counsel to write a short order. Respondent submitted a Proposed Order. Appellant filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Respondent's Proposed Order on December 22, 2014.

The trial court filed an Order granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment on February 3, 2015. Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration on February 12, 2015. The trial court filed an Amended Order granting Respondent's

Motion for Summary Judgment on February 27, 2015. Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Amended Order on March 16, 2015. The trial court filed an Order denying Appellant's Motion on March 23, 2015 without a hearing.

FACTS

Respondent introduced Appellant to his Wife and encouraged a friendship between them. Respondent then promoted a personal and physical relationship between himself, his Wife, and Appellant. Respondent became hostile when Appellant and his Wife refused to continue a physical relationship with him. (Solicitor's Internal Prosecution Memo attached as part of Exhibit A to Plaintiff's Response to Sutton's First Request for Production to Plaintiff, p. 1)

Respondent hired Sutton to, in his words, "document the activities of my Wife." Private Investigator documented approximately 185 hours of activity between Appellant and his Wife with no indication of any improper relationship. *Id.*

Respondent with cooperation of Sutton installed a covert camera in the marital residence. Sutton's notes indicate that the camera was first installed in November. Sutton denies that the camera captured any activity of any kind. After this event, Respondent was again solicitous of time with Wife and Appellant. All three socialized together and even had Christmas dinner together with their families. Respondent continuously commented on how much he missed physical contact with his Wife and Appellant. Respondent planned a trip and made clear to his Wife that she should plan to spend the night at the house due to construction workers building a house next door. Respondent suggested that Appellant stay with his Wife while he was gone. *Id.*

Respondent and Sutton re-installed the covert camera. This time camera filmed his Wife and Appellant participating in activities encouraged by Respondent.

Respondent did not confront his Wife and continued to cohabit and have sexual contact with her. Respondent also attempted to renew a physical relationship between himself, his Wife, and Appellant. *Id.*

Appellant had to been to the Respondent's house on many occasions. She and Wife often went into Wife's dressing room to change clothes. Respondent assured Appellant that the area was secluded. The residence has an alarm that chimes if any door is opened. On the evening of the videotaping, Appellant and his Wife believed Respondent was not at home. No one else was believed to be in the home and no security cameras were in the home. Appellant states that she believed that she could disrobe in private without being seen by anyone but Wife and without being videotaped by anyone. *Id.* at p. 4.

Two months after having the video, Respondent demanded that Wife leave the marital home. Even with the videotape, the Judge at the Temporary Hearing did not deny alimony to the Wife. He stated that Wife may have a defense of connivance. *Id.* at p. 1

With his sexual history and encouragement of a threesome between himself, Wife, and Appellant, Respondent announced another motivation for making the videotape. When they refused to fully participate in his fantasy, he orchestrated events to capture it on videotape – for his own sexual desire. *Id.* at p. 4.

Appellant reported Respondent to criminal justice authorities because she believed and still believes that she was the victim of a crime. Refusing the request of deputies and the sheriff and, despite his own admission that a statute had been violated,

the 13th Circuit Solicitor refused to prosecute. The State Office of Victim Assistance determined that Appellant met the eligibility standards pursuant to South Carolina Laws to receive victim assistance from the Crime Victim's Compensation Fund. (Response to [Respondent's] Request to Admit #15 filed as Exhibit 2 to Motion to Compel).

Respondent claims that Appellant reported him to authorities to gain a tactical advantage in this lawsuit. To the contrary, had the State prosecuted the crime Respondent committed, there would be no civil action. Because of its declining to prosecute for whatever reason, the civil court was the only form of redress. Appellant waited as long as the law allowed before filing this lawsuit. (Response to [Respondent's] Request to Admit #16 filed as Exhibit 2 to Motion to Compel)

ARGUMENTS

I. The Trial Court Erred In Granting Summary Judgment When It Unequivocally Knew That Appellant Had Not Had A Full And Fair Opportunity To Complete Discovery.

Numerous South Carolina courts have made it clear that because "summary judgment is a drastic remedy, it must not be granted until the opposing party has had a 'full and fair opportunity to complete discovery.'" Dawkins v. Fields, 354 S.C. 58, 69, 580 S.E.2d 433, 439 (2003).

This case has been pending for almost two years, but not because Plaintiff has been dilatory in its prosecution. "Under the circumstances, we agree with Plaintiffs that the grant of partial summary judgment on the personal injury claims was premature. . . . We acknowledge that more than three years elapsed between the filing of these actions and the final granting of partial summary judgment as to personal injury. The delays in completing discovery, however, may not fairly be attributed solely to Plaintiff's

inaction.” Baughman v. Amer. Tel. and Tel Co., 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537 (S.C. 1990).

A. Respondent Filed A Rule 56 Affidavit Telling the Court Summary Judgment Was Premature

Appellant filed a Motion for Summary Judgment June 20, 2014. On June 23, 2014, Respondent’s counsel filed a 56(f) affidavit in which he stated the following:

1. Due to delays caused by issues relating to [Appellant’s] pleadings, discovery remains in its infancy in this case.
2. [Respondent] has served written discovery upon [Appellant] but we only just recently received [Appellant’s] responses. In my legal opinion, [Appellant’s] responses are substantially incomplete, improper, and will require amended responses, either voluntarily or pursuant to a court order.
3. No depositions have been taken. No third-party subpoenas have been issued.
4. [Appellant] has alleged an intrusion of privacy claim against [Respondent]. Until [Appellant] amended her Complaint, which in our view she still technically has not, [Respondent] could not issue third-party subpoenas out of fear that [Appellant] would claim [Respondent] had further intruded upon her privacy. No meaningful subpoenas could issue without using [Appellant’s] real name.
5. At a minimum, [Respondent] will need to depose [Appellant] and no less than (4) fact witnesses.
6. Before [Respondent] has the opportunity to complete such discovery, he cannot fully and fairly respond to [Appellant’s] motion for partial summary judgment.

Based on Respondent’s Rule 56 affidavit, the trial court issued a Form 4 Order without a hearing finding that that summary judgment was premature on July 1, 2014.

Respondent filed his Amended Answer 10 days later.

B. Review of the Record Shows Discovery Had Not Progressed Since Respondent Filed His Rule 56 Affidavit

Respondent served his first discovery requests on Appellant on May 8, 2014.

Appellant served her first discovery request on October 13, 2014 even though the Motion to Strike 19 unsupported affirmative defenses had not been heard yet. Appellant served additional discovery on Respondent in November 2014.

Sutton did not file an Amended Answer until November 26, 2014. Appellant served discovery on Sutton on January 27, 2014. At the time of the Order granting Summary Judgment was filed on February 3, 2015, the following discovery had been served, but remain unanswered. In addition, no deposition had been taken.

1. Request for Entry Upon Land for Inspection and Other Purposes;
2. Plaintiff's First Requests for Production to [Respondent];
3. Plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories to [Respondent];
4. Plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories to [Sutton];
5. Plaintiff's First Requests for Admissions to [Sutton]; and
6. Plaintiff's First Requests for Production to [Sutton].

C. At the Hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment, Respondent's Counsel Agreed That Discovery Was Not Complete

Appellant argued repeatedly before the trial court that she should be given an opportunity to complete discovery. (Verified Memo In Opposition, p. 26, First Motion for Recon., p. 23, Second Motion for Recon., p. 9) At the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment, Respondent's attorney confirmed that the parties had not had an opportunity to complete discovery.

THE COURT: Have y'all taken depositions?

MR. DAVIS: No, sir.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. DAVIS: Part of the reasons we haven't taken depositions is because we were delayed with the snarling of the pleadings, and so on and so forth. (Transcript, p. 32)

. . .

MR. DAVIS: For those reasons, we're asking your Honor to require the Plaintiff to participate in full and fair discovery in this case. It is imperative that discovery be full and fair in order for my client to have a fair shake. And we're asking the Court to require that. (Transcript, p. 38)

In short, both parties made it clear to the trial court that they had not had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery and had a desire to do so. Nevertheless, the court took the drastic step of dismissing the case.

II. A Genuine Issue Of Material Fact Exists Between The Facts And The Trial Court's View Of The Facts

"It is the duty of the court, on motion for summary judgment, not to try issues of fact, but only to determine whether there are genuine issues to be tried; and once having found that triable issues exist, must leave those issues for determination at trial." Title Ins. Co. of Minnesota v. Christian, 226 S.E.2d 240, 267 S.C. 71 (S.C., 1976).

Regardless of how "selective" it thinks Appellant's account of the facts is, the trial court is not to try the issue. The trial court should not decide whether the facts are credible or whether it believes one party or the other. Rather, it is to leave the truth or falsity of the issue for determination at trial.

A. Appellant Has Always Reported That Respondent Orchestrated The Events He Secretly Videotaped.

From November 3, 2010, when Appellant met with the Sex Crimes Unit of the Greenville County Sheriff's Office until today, her account of the facts has not changed. Respondent orchestrated the evening for his own sexual gratification. This account has been considered by three unrelated entities.

First, the judge in the Greenville County Family Court refused to deny alimony to Respondent's then-wife based on the same affidavits this Court has considered – indicating that at least some evidence of connivance existed. Significantly, based on the affidavits, the Family Court made an initial finding that Respondent may have connived to be certain that Appellant was present and engaging in the activity he intentionally videotaped. (p. 5 of Temporary Order attached as part of Exhibit A to Plaintiff's Response to Sutton's First Request for Production to Plaintiff).

Second, the Greenville County Sheriff's Office investigated the account thoroughly. From the Incident Report, we know the following were reviewed: (1) Affidavits from Sutton; (2) Sutton's PI report; (3) the videotape and still grabs from it; (4) All the affidavits filed in the Family Court case (including Respondent's); and (5) case statements. The investigator talked to witness and various others in law enforcement and the solicitor's office. After a full investigation, Appellant's account was not contradicted. (Incident Report attached as part of Exhibit A to Plaintiff's Response to Sutton's First Request for Production to Plaintiff).

Third, the State Office of Victim Assistance (part of the Office of the Governor) conducted an investigation of Appellant's application for compensation from Crime Victim's Compensation Fund. It also determined that Appellant was the victim of the

crime and qualified for financial help from the Crime Victims' Compensation Fund. (Award letter dated May 23, 2012 attached as part of Exhibit A to Plaintiff's Response to Sutton's First Request for Production to Plaintiff).

B. Respondent Offered No Evidence To Contradict Appellant's Account.

Respondent entered not one fact from the pleadings, answers to interrogatories, admissions on file, affidavits, prior court orders, and other documents on file to support his case. He has established NO fact. Thus, the ONLY facts in the record are those supporting Appellant's position.

Respondent's counsel has incessantly harped on Appellant's wrongful conduct and adulterous affair, but has offered no proof of an affair. Considering the arguments of Respondent's counsel is improper. The Supreme Court "has repeatedly held that statements of fact appearing only in argument of counsel will not be considered. . . ." McManus v. Bank of Greenwood Et. Al., 171 S.C. 84, 171 S.E. 473, 475 (S.C. 1933). "[T]his court ordinarily will not consider statements of fact presented only in an attorney's argument in determining whether a genuine issue of material facts exists sufficient to preclude summary judgment." West v. Gladney, 533 S.E.2d 334, 341 S.C. 127, 135 (S.C. App. 2000) "[F]actual statements of the attorneys, whether made during argument or in written briefs or memoranda, ordinarily may not be considered by the court in determining whether a genuine issue of material fact exists." Higgins v. Medical Univ. of SC, 486 S.E.2d 269, 272, 326 S.C. 592 (S.C. App. 1997).

Respondent has never contradicted Appellant's account. He has not filed one affidavit in this case, the Family Court case, or the prior civil case referenced in the Court's Jan. 8, 2014 Order to deny that he orchestrated the evening or that it was for his

own sexual gratification. His silence is deafening.

C. The Court Erred In Drawing An Inference Contrary To The Undisputed Evidence

The standard the Court must use is well-settled -- "In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party." Lord v. D&J Enters., Inc. (S.C. 2014), *quoting* David v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr., 367 S.C. 242, 247, 626 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2006). In this case, the Court has drawn inferences that directly contradict to all the facts in the record.

Other than the one evening Respondent orchestrated, the record is void of any inappropriate touching, much less of an affair. Sutton documented approximately 185 hours of activity between Appellant and Respondent's then-Wife with no indication of any improper relationship. (Solicitor's Internal Prosecution Memo attached as part of Exhibit A to Plaintiff's Response to Sutton's First Request for Production to Plaintiff, p. 1). Yet, the trial court adopted contention of Respondent's counsel as fact -- one totally unsupported by the record -- that Appellant was having an affair with Respondent's then-wife.

"Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn from those facts." Gilliland v. Elmwood Properties, Inc., 301 S.C. 295, 391 S.E.2d 577, 579 (1990). The Court has clearly concluded that Appellant was having an ongoing an affair with Respondent's wife. On the other hand, the Greenville County Sherriff and SOVA have clearly concluded that Appellant was the victim of video voyeurism committed by the Defendants. The conclusions are obviously in dispute and summary judgment was

improper.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE WRONGFUL CONDUCT BAR AND THE *IN PARI DELICTO* DOCTRINE?

Each theory that the trial court puts forth to bar Appellant's claims is founded on the premise that Respondent and Appellant are equally at fault so that the law should leave them as it finds them.

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