THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000778
C/A No. 2013-CP-23-01762

RECEIVED

Carol Simpson,

JUN 09 2016
Appellant,
SC Court of Appeals

v.

Frank A. Landgraff, Carol Sutton, Sutton & Associates
Investigations, Inc., Defendants,

Of Whom Frank A. Landgraff is the

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Lane W. Davis
Timothy E. Madden
Reid T. Sherard
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough, LLP
104 South Main Street
Poinsett Plaza, Suite 900
P.O. Box 10084 (29603)
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 250-2300

Attorneys for Respondent
Frank A. Landgraff

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT LACKS SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OVER THIS CASE WARRANTING ITS IMMEDIATE DISMISSAL.

The Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals once noted: "[l]awyers and litigants who decide to play by rules of their own invention will find that the game cannot be won." See United States v. Golden Elevator, Inc., 27 F.3d 301, 302 (7th Cir. 1994). This adage applies here. Appellant proved so intent on playing by rules of her own invention, her case slipped into jurisdictional non-existence.

A. The Lower Court Disallowed Appellant From Using a Pseudonym And Ordered Her to Amend Within Ten Days.

Pursuant to Rule 15, SCRPC, a litigant can: "amend his pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse part[ies]." Rule 15(a), SCRPC.²² After setting aside its prior Order authorizing Appellant to proceed under a pseudonym, the lower court granted

discount from consideration each and every factual statement in Appellant's Brief where she has not identified her source in the record.

²¹ Just like the Solicitor's Office and Greenville County Sheriff's Office as well, this Court should reject Appellant's unfounded statements.

²² "In interpreting the meaning of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, the Court applies the same rules of construction used to interpret statutes. If a rule's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, interpretation is unnecessary and the stated meaning should be enforced." Maxwell v. Genez, 356 S.C. 617, 620, 591 S.E.2d 26, 27 (2003). Here, Appellant can offer no explanation justifying her outright refusal to abide by court rules and court orders. To borrow a phrase Appellant hackneys in this case: "Her silence [in this regard] is deafening."

Appellant leave to amend her Complaint for a period of ten (10) days, which expired on January 18, 2014. (See R. p. 4, 1/6/2014 Order ("Within ten (10) days of the receipt of this Order, Plaintiff is ordered to amend her Complaint...") But, Appellant actively chose to disobey the lower court's order for over six (6) months.

B. Appellant Failed to Amend For Six (6) Months and When She Did Amend She Obtained Neither Leave of Court Nor Written Consent of the Other Parties.

When, on June 20, 2014, Simpson decided she would file her Fourth Amended Complaint, the ten (10) day period wherein the lower court's order authorized Appellant to amend had expired over six (6) months earlier. (Compare R. pp. 0039-0041, 4th Am. Compl. *with* (See R. p. 4, 1/6/2014 Order) Even though no Court Order authorized the amendment in June of 2014, Appellant proceeded to file and serve a Fourth Amended Complaint. (R. pp. 0039-0041, 4th Am. Compl.) She did not file a Motion under Rule 15(a), SCRCF first obtaining the required Order granting leave to amend. And, Appellant did not obtain Landgraff's written consent or the consent of the two other parties.

C. When a Party's Amendment Fails to Follow Rule 15(a), SCRCF, It Has No Legal Effect.

It is axiomatic: "if an amendment that cannot be made as of right is served without obtaining the court's leave or the opposing party's consent, it is without legal effect and any new matter it contains will not be considered" unless approved by the trial court. 6 Wright & Miller, Federal Practice & Procedure §1484 at 421 (1971); Stanley v. Kirkpatrick, 357 S.C. 169, 174, 592 S.E.2d 296 (2004) ("[I]f more than thirty days have elapsed from the time a responsive pleading is served, a party may amend his pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party."); United States ex rel. Mathews v. HealthSouth Corp., 332 F.3d 293, 296 (5th Cir. 2003) ("[F]ailing to request leave from the court when leave is

required makes a pleading more than technically deficient. The failure to obtain leave results in an amended complaint having no legal effect. Without legal effect, it cannot toll the statute of limitations period."); Murray v. Archambo, 132 F.3d 609, 612 (10th Cir. Okla. 1997) ("Because Murray's amended complaint was not properly filed pursuant to Rule 15, it had no legal effect and did not supersede his original complaint.")²³

Here, for the reasons set forth above, Appellant's Fourth Amended Complaint constitutes a legal nullity, void from its inception. Id.²⁴ Even if so inclined, the Court of Appeals cannot now confer operative legal effect upon Appellant's Fourth Amended Complaint when none ever existed. By necessity, then, Simpson must revert to her last operative pleading (i.e., Appellant's Third Amended Complaint). (See R. p. 0036-0038, 3d Am. Compl.)

D. Because Appellant's Last Amendment Has No Legal Effect, the Named Plaintiff Remains "Jane Doe"—an Imaginary Claimant With Fictional Claims.

The Third Amended Complaint lists Jane Doe as the Plaintiff, not Carol Simpson. (Id.) In turn, the lower court ruled—in an unappealed order—that Appellant could not proceed under a pseudonym. (R. pp. 0013-0016, Jan. 6, 2014 Order.) The lower court vacated the Pseudonym Order, which Appellant obtained in questionable fashion on an *ex parte* basis, but

²³ See also Baxter v. Strickland, 381 F. Supp. 487, 491 (N.D. Ga. 1974) (When "[A]n amendment to the complaint...is served without obtaining such leave or the opposing party's consent is served, it is without legal effect and will not be considered."); Gaumont v. Warner Bros. Pictures, 2 F.R.D. 45, 46 (D.N.Y. 1941) ("Although amendments are "freely given when justice so requires" F.R.C.P. 15(a), the rule is specific that leave of the court must be obtained. That has not been sought here and the pleading, therefore, is without legal effect.")

²⁴ While true, the lower court had discretion to grant Appellant leave to amend, Appellant never moved the Court and the Court never granted the same. To hold otherwise would deprive Respondent and his then Co-Defendants of the opportunity to oppose the amendment and create a Record regarding the same.

found it had *otherwise* dissolved ten (10) days after its issuance and "before Landgraff was ever served." (*Id.* at 1.) Appellant never appealed this Order and it thereafter became the law of the case. Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union, 403 S.C. 560, 734, 573 S.E.2d 778 (2013) ("An unappealed ruling is the law of the case.") Thus, from inception, a fake name—beneath which Appellant lacked authority to assert her claims—served as the prosecuting party in this lawsuit. Carol Simpson never jurisdictionally darkened the threshold of this or the lower court.²⁵

E. Virtually Identical Facts Arose in the Case of W.N.J. v. Yocom and the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals Adopted Landgraff's Same Analysis.

Respondent's arguments directly implicate the organic subject matter jurisdiction of the lower court and, derivatively, this Court.²⁶ The exact scenario, as that *sub judice*, arose in the decision of W.N.J. v. Yocom, 257 F.3d 1171, 1172 (10th Cir. Utah 2001). In W.N.J., Plaintiffs failed to obtain permission to proceed anonymously before proceeding as such. After the District Court granted summary judgment on substantive grounds, Plaintiffs appealed the dismissal to the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals. *Id.* While on appeal, Plaintiffs first realized

²⁵ Of note, Respondent does not believe subject matter jurisdiction ever existed in this case. As noted above, see Statement of Case, the case commenced with all fictional parties. At the time Respondent was served, Appellant lacked the authority to proceed anonymously. Thus, a fictional party served Respondent with a summons and complaint. Then, in January of 2014, the lower court ordered Appellant to amend in ten days. She disobeyed by waiting six months. *Then*, when she did amend, she never sought leave to amend or the consent of the other parties. Any prior leave of Court necessarily expired by that time. From inception and, to date, a real Plaintiff never existed in this case. South Carolina Courts clearly have plenary powers to adjudicate real disputes between real parties. No question exists about the same. But, South Carolina Courts have no jurisdiction to hear fictional claims of fake parties. Nor would they want such jurisdiction.

²⁶ "The question of lack of subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at anytime during the action and cannot be waived..." Gnoc Corp. v. Estate of Rhyne, 312 S.C. 86, 88, 439 S.E.2d 274 (1994).

their failure to obtain permission to proceed anonymously deprived the District Court and Tenth Circuit of subject matter jurisdiction. Id.

The W.N.J. Plaintiffs sought to correct the defect by obtaining a *nunc pro tunc* Order from the District Court Magistrate granting leave to use pseudonyms. Id. The Tenth Circuit rejected Plaintiffs' efforts to restore jurisdiction holding:

When a party wishes to file a case anonymously or under a pseudonym, it must first petition the district court for permission to do so. Nat'l Commodity & Barter Ass'n, 886 F.2d 1240, 1245 (10th Cir. 1989) [When] no permission is granted, "the federal courts lack jurisdiction over the unnamed parties, as a case has not been commenced with respect to them." Id.

In this case, plaintiffs failed to request permission from the district court before proceeding anonymously. At our request, two plaintiffs filed sealed affidavits giving their true names to this court. They also secured an order by the original magistrate judge granting leave to proceed using pseudonyms, filed after the start of this appeal but dated *nunc pro tunc* to the filing of the action. Those acts cannot cure the failure to secure permission at filing. We raised this issue *sua sponte* because the defect affects our fundamental jurisdiction to hear the appeal. See id. at 1245 n.3.

A lack of jurisdiction cannot be corrected by an order *nunc pro tunc*. Central Laborers' Pension, Welfare & Annuity Funds v. Griffee, 198 F.3d 642, 644 (7th Cir. 1999). As noted in that case, "the only proper office of a *nunc pro tunc* order is to correct a mistake in the records; it cannot be used to rewrite history." Id. The lack of original jurisdiction in the district court likewise cannot be cured after an appeal has been filed since, as a general matter, a district court loses jurisdiction over a case once a notice of appeal has been filed.

(Id.)²⁷

²⁷ See also M.M. v. Zavaras, 139 F.3d 798, 801 (10th Cir. 1998) (holding that "absent permission by the district court to proceed anonymously . . . the federal courts lack jurisdiction over the unnamed parties."); Doe v. Husband, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 28345 (E.D. Va. Aug. 16, 2004) ("Where, as here, the plaintiff has not filed a request to proceed anonymously and the plaintiff has not argued that she should be allowed to proceed anonymously, the plaintiff's complaint should be dismissed."); Estate of Rodriguez v. Drummond Co., 256 F. Supp. 2d 1250, 1256 (N.D. Ala. 2003) ("[T]he plaintiffs in this case failed to seek leave to proceed anonymously. Thus, this court does not have jurisdiction over the unnamed plaintiffs because of this procedural error."); Doe v. Megless, 654 F.3d 404, 406 (3d Cir. 2011) (affirming district court's dismissal of action in which plaintiff failed to proceed using real name after denial of his motion to proceed anonymously).

The facts at bar prove even starker than in W.N.J.. Here, Appellant did not simply neglect to obtain permission to proceed anonymously. The lower court affirmatively refused the same and further ruled Simpson's failure to renew her *ex parte* motion resulted in the dissolution of the Pseudonym Order before Appellant ever served Respondent. (R. p. 0013, Jan. 6, 2014 Order.) The lower court also vacated the Pseudonym Order removing any question about the issue. (Id.)

Unlike in W.N.J., the lower court did not automatically dismiss Appellant's claims for want of jurisdiction, although it arguably should have. The lower court instead granted Appellant leave of court for ten days to amend her Third Amended Complaint to substitute her real name. (Id.) But, intent on playing by her own rules, Appellant simply ignored the lower court's order.

Even assuming the lower court had organic jurisdiction to grant Appellant leave to amend as it did in its January 2014 Order, see FN 25 & 27 above, no case, controversy, or real claims existed between *actual* parties for the next six (6) months. Then, even further assuming subject matter jurisdiction somehow persisted in June of 2014, Appellant purported to amend her pleading by interposing her Fourth Amended Complaint, without leave of Court or the consent of the other parties. Now, just like the W.N.J. Plaintiffs, Appellant finds herself on appeal incapable of remedying jurisdictional defects only curable at the trial court level. Now, just like the W.N.J. Plaintiffs' claims, this Court should dismiss Appellant's claims for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

F. South Carolina Law Accords With the Tenth Circuit's Analysis.

Both the analysis of Respondent and the Tenth Circuit wholly mirror South Carolina law and procedure. This is true for several reasons. First, "A civil action may be maintained

only in the name of a person...capable of possessing and asserting a right of action. A suit brought in a name which is not a legal entity is a nullity and the action fails." Glenn v. E. I. Du Pont de Nemours & Co., 254 S.C. 128, 133, 170 S.E.2d 155 (1970). Moreover, "A complaint brought in the name of a plaintiff which is not a legal entity is a nullity and there is no foundation upon which to base an amendment." Id. at 134.²⁸

First, without permission, Appellant brought suit in the name of a non-existent person. The lower court refused permission to use a pseudonym and Appellant failed to fix it in a timely manner or in accordance with the Rules of Civil Procedure. Her case and claims proved a nullity from the start and no foundation existed upon which to base her amendments.

Second, "South Carolina courts, like the federal courts, require a justiciable case or controversy before any decision on the merits can be reached." Lennon v. S. Carolina Coastal Council, 330 S.C. 414, 417-18, 498 S.E.2d 906, 908 (Ct. App. 1998); Power v. McNair, 255 S.C. 150, 153, 177 S.E.2d 551, 552 (1970); see also Tourism Expenditure Review Comm. v. City of Myrtle Beach, 403 S.C. 76, 81, 742 S.E.2d 371, 373 (2013) ("[P]arties cannot by consent or agreement confer jurisdiction on the court...in the absence of an actual justiciable controversy.") Thus, "A threshold inquiry for any court is a determination of justiciability, *i.e.*, whether the litigation presents an active case or controversy." Lennon v. S.C. Coastal Council, 330 S.C. 414, 415, 498 S.E.2d 906, 906 (Ct.App.1998). "A justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy which is appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a dispute or difference of a contingent, hypothetical or abstract character." Byrd v. Irmo High Sch., 321 S.C. 426, 430-31, 468 S.E.2d 861, 864 (1996); see also Holden

²⁸ For this reason, "It is well settled that where an action is brought in the name of a non-existing plaintiff, an amendment of complaint by substituting the proper party to the action as plaintiff will be regarded as the institution of a new action as regards the statute of limitations." Glenn v. E. I. Du Pont de Nemours & Co., 254 S.C. 128, 135 (1970).

v. Cribb, 349 S.C. 132, 137, 561 S.E.2d 634, 637 (Ct. App. 2002). Here, no justiciable controversy can exist with a fake Plaintiff. Because Plaintiff's 4th Amended Complaint was submitted without leave of court, in contravention of Rule 15, SCRPC, an unauthorized Jane Doe Plaintiff impermissibly remains as the suing litigant.

Third, Rule 10(a), SCRPC states: "The summons and complaint...shall include the names of all parties..." Substantially the same as its federal counterpart, Rule 10(a), SCRPC does not impose a mere formality but directly implicates the court's subject matter jurisdiction. It is axiomatic: "Failure to name a party denies a court jurisdiction over that party." Loa-Herrera v. Trominski, 231 F.3d 984, 991 (5th Cir. 2000); M.M. v. Zavaras, 139 F.3d 798, 801 (10th Cir. 1998) (holding that "absent permission by the district court to proceed anonymously . . . the federal courts lack jurisdiction over the unnamed parties."); see also Discussion, supra.

Where, as here, Appellant lacked permission from the lower court to assert claims through a pseudonym, South Carolina Courts lack jurisdiction over Simpson and the subject matter of her claims. Stated differently, no actual case or controversy, wherein real claims have been asserted, exist before the Court for adjudication. This proves necessarily true because the named Plaintiff does not exist.²⁹ Trexler v. Associated Press, 2015 WL 1681002,

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